<u>No. 45694-0-II</u>

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

Shawn Christopher,

Appellant.

Clark County Superior Court Cause No. 13-1-01577-3

The Honorable Judge Robert A. Lewis

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The statute criminalizing second-degree assault was enacted in violation of Wash. Const. art. II, § 19.
- 2. The 2011 bill reenacting and amending RCW 9A.36.021violated the single-subject rule.
- 3. The 2011 bill reenacting and amending RCW 9A.36.021 violated the subject-in-title rule.
- 4. Mr. Christopher was convicted under an unconstitutional statute.

ISSUE 1: Washington's constitution requires that bills enacted into law embrace a single subject. The 2011 bill reenacting and amending RCW 9A.36.021 (second-degree assault) embraced more than one subject. Was Mr. Christopher convicted under a statute that was enacted in violation of Wash. Const. art. II, § 19? **ISSUE 2:** Art. II, § 19 requires that the subject of a bill be expressed in its title. The bill reenacting and amending RCW 9A.36.021 (second-degree child assault) was captioned "AN

ACT Relating to crimes against persons involving suffocation or domestic violence," but addressed additional unrelated topics. Was the statute enacted as part of a bill that violated the subject-in-title rule because the title contained no reference to some of the subjects contained in the bill?

- 5. The prosecutor committed misconduct that was flagrant and illintentioned.
- 6. The prosecutor committed misconduct that infringed Mr. Christopher's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 7. The prosecutor violated the court's order *in limine* by eliciting testimony that Officer Bibens "met Shawn before on some previous calls at that same location."
- 8. Mr. Christopher's conviction was based in part on propensity evidence, in violation of his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 9. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Christopher's mistrial motion.

10. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Christopher's Motion for a New Trial.

ISSUE 2: A prosecutor commits misconduct by introducing propensity evidence in violation of an order *in limine*. Here, the prosecutor introduced evidence that police knew "Shawn" from previous calls to the apartment he shared with "Christina." Did the prosecutor's misconduct violate Mr. Sherman's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process? **ISSUE 3:** A criminal conviction may not be based on propensity evidence. In this case, jurors learned that Mr. Christopher was known to police because of prior calls to his apartment. Did Mr. Christopher's conviction violate his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because it was based in part on propensity evidence?

- 11. The trial court erred by imposing attorney fees.
- 12. The trial court's imposition of attorney fees infringed Mr. Christopher's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel.
- 13. The court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 2.5 (Judgment and Sentence).

ISSUE 6: A trial court may only impose attorney fees after finding that the offender has the present or likely future ability to pay. Here, the court imposed \$1409.25 in attorney fees and defense costs, but failed to conduct any inquiry into whether Mr. Christopher could afford to pay the amount. Did the trial court violate Mr. Christopher's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Shawn Christopher and Christina Gutierrez were in a romantic relationship and lived together. RP 106-108. One night in the summer of 2013, they argued. RP 109-131. During the argument, Gutierrez kicked at Mr. Christopher, knocked a drink out of his hands, and pushed him over. RP 117-118, 119, 123, 327329, 331. Gutierrez called police and claimed that Mr. Christopher had choked her. Mr. Christopher denied it. RP 133-147, 266.

Gutierrez also claimed that while Mr. Christopher was in custody for her allegations, he convinced his cell-mate to contact her and tell her to drop the charges. RP 155-168. Mr. Christopher said that if the cell-mate made the contact, it was his own doing. RP 341.

The state charged Mr. Christopher with assault two, tampering with a witness, and violation of a domestic violence court order. CP 1-2. The court found Mr. Christopher indigent and appointed an attorney to represent him. Clerk's Minutes 8/23/13, Supp. CP.

Before trial, Mr. Christopher's attorney moved for an order preventing the state from eliciting evidence that Mr. Christopher had been convicted of assault in the past. RP 25. The court granted the motion over the state's objection. RP 24-25. The defense also requested redaction of

3

references to prior incidents from the 911 call. The state assented and the call was redacted. RP 42, 133-139.

The prosecutor planned to admit Gutierrez's statement written the night of the incident. In it, she alleged that she was told that Mr. Christopher was facing a strike if convicted. RP 52. The court ruled this evidence was admissible as it related to the tampering charge, but did not limit its consideration to the jury. RP 53-56.

At trial, the state asked the responding officer about the call he received. The officer told the jury that he has had contact with Mr. Christopher on prior calls to that same apartment. RP 233-234. Mr. Christopher's attorney's objection was sustained, but the court denied his motion for a mistrial. RP 233-238.

Mr. Christopher was convicted as charged. At sentencing, the court ordered that Mr. Christopher pay attorney fees of \$1000 and defense expert fees of \$409.25. CP 94.

Mr. Christopher timely appealed. CP 115.

ARGUMENT

I. MR. CHRISTOPHER WAS CONVICTED UNDER A STATUTE ENACTED IN VIOLATION OF WASH. CONST. ART. II, § 19.

A. Standard of Review

Appellate courts review constitutional violations *de novo*. *State v*. *Lynch*, 178 Wn.2d 487, 491, 309 P.3d 482 (2013). A manifest error affecting a constitutional right may be raised for the first time on review. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Kirwin*, 165 Wn.2d 818, 823, 203 P.3d 1044 (2009).

Courts presume that statutes are constitutional; the party challenging a statute's constitutionality "bears the heavy burden of establishing its unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt." *Amalgamated Transit Union Local 587 v. State*, 142 Wn.2d 183, 205, 11 P.3d 762 (2000) *opinion corrected*, 27 P.3d 608 (2001). An appellant meets this standard when "argument and research show that there is no reasonable doubt that the statute violates the constitution." *Id*.

B. The statute criminalizing second-degree assault was enacted in violation of the single-subject rule.

Under Wash. Const. art. II, § 19, "No bill shall embrace more than one subject..." The framers included this provision to prevent "logrolling" (where a law is pushed through by attaching it to other legislation). To resolve a challenge under art. II, §19, a court must first determine whether the title is general or restrictive. *Washington Ass'n of Neighborhood Stores v. State*, 149 Wn.2d 359, 368, 70 P.3d 920 (2003). A general title is broad, comprehensive and generic.¹ *Id.* A restrictive title is specific and narrow. *Id.*

A restrictive title carves out a particular part or branch of a subject. *Amalgamated Transit Union*, 142 Wn.2d at 210. Such a title will not be regarded as liberally as a general title. *Id.* Violations of the single-subject rule are more readily found where a restrictive title is used. *Id.*, at 211.

The single subject rule gives legislators "the opportunity to consider legislative subjects in separate bills, so that each subject may stand or fall upon its own merits or demerits." *Washington Toll Bridge Auth. v. State*, 49 Wn.2d 520, 525, 304 P.2d 676 (1956). The relevant inquiry looks to whether "the body of the act contain[s] more than one general subject..." *Id*, at 523. Part of the analysis turns on whether each subject is necessary to implement the others. *Amalgamated Transit Union*, 142 Wn.2d at 217. A statute passed in violation of the single

¹ A statute enacted under a general title is invalid unless there is "rational unity between the general subject and the incidental subjects." *Id.* at 209. Examples of general titles include "An Act relating to violence prevention," "An Act relating to tort actions." *Id.* at 208 (providing examples).

subject rule is unconstitutional and void. *Id.* at 216; *Toll Bridge*, 49 Wn2d at 525.

For example, in *Toll Bridge*, the Supreme Court invalidated an act because it embraced two subjects: "(1) To provide legislation, permanent in character, empowering a state agency to establish and operate all toll roads, and (2) to provide for the construction of a specific toll road linking Tacoma, Seattle, and Everett." *Toll Bridge*, 49 Wn.2d at 523. Similarly, in *Amalgamated Transit Union*, the court found that I-695 embraced two different purposes: "to specifically set license tab fees at \$30 and to provide a continuing method of approving all future tax increases." *Amalgamated Transit Union*, 142 Wn.2d at 217.

The statute criminalizing assault was reenacted in 2011. Laws, 2011, Ch. 166 §1. The legislation was titled "AN ACT Relating to crimes against persons involving suffocation or domestic violence..." Laws, 2011, Ch. 166. This title carves out "a particular part or branch of a subject." *Amalgamated Transit Union*, 142 Wn.2d at 210 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). It is therefore restrictive.

The body of the Act addresses multiple subjects, none of which are "necessary to implement the other." *Id.*, at 217. First, the Act defines "suffocation," and adds suffocation as a means of committing second-degree assault. Laws, 2011, Ch. 166 §1, 2. Second, the Act makes several

technical corrections, changing the spelling of "wilful" to "willful" in the definition of "malice," correcting a statutory reference to failure to register in RCW 9.94A.525 ("Offender Score"), and moving a misplaced conjunction in that same statute. Laws, 2011, Ch. 166 §§2-3. Third, the Act adds language allowing prior convictions for a repetitive domestic violence offense to wash out of a person's offender score after a ten-year period. Laws, 2011, Ch. 166 §1, 2.

None of these three subjects has anything to do with the other two. The provisions creating and defining a new means of committing seconddegree assault do not relate to the technical corrections or to the wash-out period for repetitive domestic violence offenses. Similarly, the technical corrections have nothing to do with the more substantive provisions. Finally, the provision creating a wash-out period for repetitive domestic violence offenses does not concern assault by suffocation or the technical corrections.

The Act violates the single-subject requirement of art. II, § 19, "because both its title and the body of the act include" more than one subject." *Amalgamated Transit Union* 142 Wn.2d at 217. Mr. Christopher's assault conviction must be reversed, and the charge dismissed with prejudice. *Id*.

8

C. The statute criminalizing second-degree assault was enacted in violation of the subject-in-title rule.

The purpose of the subject-in-title rule is "to notify members of the Legislature and the public of the subject matter of the measure." *Amalgamated Transit Union*, 142 Wn.2d at 207. The subject-in-title rule requires courts to consider only the substantive language in the title. A title's "mere reference to a section... does not state a subject." *Patrice v. Murphy*, 136 Wn.2d 845, 853, 966 P.2d 1271 (1998) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

The bill reenacting the statute criminalizing second-degree assault addressed subjects that were not encompassed by its title. The two subjects referenced in the title—domestic violence and assault by suffocation—do not cover the technical changes. Because of this, the Act violates the subject-in-title rule. *Amalgamated Transit Union*, 142 Wn.2d at 226.

The second-degree assault statute was reenacted as part of a bill that violates the subject-in-title rule. Accordingly, it is unconstitutional. *Amalgamated Transit Union*, 142 Wn.2d at 210. Because he was found guilty of violating an unconstitutional statute, Mr. Christopher's assault conviction must be vacated and the charge dismissed with prejudice.

- II. THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED MISCONDUCT THAT VIOLATED MR. CHRISTOPHER'S FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS BY IMPROPERLY EXPOSING THE JURY TO PROPENSITY EVIDENCE.
- D. Standard of Review.

Constitutional issues are reviewed de novo.² Lynch, 178 Wn.2d at

491. A prosecutor's misconduct requires reversal whenever there is a

substantial likelihood that it affected the jury's verdict. State v. Lindsay,

88437-4, 2014 WL 1848454 (Wash. May 8, 2014).

E. The prosecution violated the court's ruling *in limine* by introducing evidence Officer Bibens knew Mr. Christopher from prior police responses to the apartment.

Prosecutorial misconduct can deprive the accused of a fair trial.

In re Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 703-704, 286 P.3d 673 (2012); U.S.

Const. Amends. XIV, Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. To determine whether a

prosecutor's misconduct warrants reversal, the court looks at its

prejudicial nature and cumulative effect. State v. Boehning, 127 Wn. App.

511, 518, 111 P.3d 899 (2005). The inquiry examines the misconduct and

² Ordinarily, an appellate court applies an abuse-of-discretion standard to a trial court's decision denying a mistrial or a motion for a new trial. *See, e.g., State v. Perez-Valdez*, 172 Wn.2d 808, 814, 265 P.3d 853 (2011); *Smith v. Orthopedics Int'l, Ltd., P.S.*, 170 Wn.2d 659, 664, 244 P.3d 939 (2010). However, these standards cannot apply where constitutional error is involved, because a trial court "necessarily abuses its discretion if it denies an accused his constitutional rights." *State v. Hart*, -- Wn.2d --, 320 P.3d 1109, 1112 (Wash. Ct. App. 2014) (citing *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d 273, 280, 217 P.3d 768 (2009)).

its impact, not the evidence that was properly admitted. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 711.

The use of propensity evidence to prove a crime may also violate

due process under the Fourteenth Amendment.³ U.S. Const. Amend. XIV;

Garceau v. Woodford, 275 F.3d 769, 775 (9th Cir. 2001), reversed on

other grounds at 538 U.S. 202, 123 S.Ct. 1398, 155 L.Ed.2d 363 (2003);

see also McKinney v. Rees, 993 F.2d 1378 (9th Cir. 1993).⁴ A conviction

based in part on propensity evidence is not the result of a fair trial.⁵

Garceau, 275 F.3d at 776, 777-778; see also Old Chief v. United States,

519 U.S. 172, 182, 117 S.Ct. 644, 136 L.Ed.2d 574 (1997).

Propensity evidence is highly prejudicial, and there are numerous

justifications for excluding it:

[S]uch evidence jeopardizes the constitutionally mandated presumption of innocence until proven guilty. The jury, repulsed by evidence of prior "bad acts," may overlook weaknesses in the prosecution's case in order to punish the accused for the prior offense. Moreover...jurors may not regret wrongfully convicting the accused if they believe the accused committed prior offenses.[J]urors will credit propensity evidence with more weight than

³ The U.S. Supreme Court has expressly reserved ruling on a similar issue. *Estelle v. McGuire*, 502 U.S. 62, 75 n. 5, 112 S.Ct. 475, 116 L.Ed.2d 385 (1991).

⁴ Washington courts are not bound by decisions of the federal circuit courts. *In re Crace*, 157 Wn. App. 81, 98 n. 7, 236 P.3d 914 (2010) *reversed on other grounds*, 174 Wn.2d 835, 280 P.3d 1102 (2012). However, decisions of the federal courts of appeal can provide guidance to Washington courts as they interpret the Fourteenth Amendment's due process clause.

 $^{^{5}}$ A violation of due process that has practical and identifiable consequences is a manifest error affecting the accused person's constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a)(3). It may therefore be raised for the first time on review.

such evidence deserves...[S]uch evidence blurs the issues in the case, redirecting the jury's attention away from the determination of guilt for the crime charged.

Natali & Stigall, "Are You Going to Arraign His Whole Life?": How

Sexual Propensity Evidence Violates the Due Process Clause, 28 Loyola

U. Chi. L.J. 1, at 11-12 (1996).

In addition to constitutional limitations, the rules of evidence

prohibit the introduction of propensity evidence. Under ER 404(b),

[e]vidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

ER 404(b) must be read in conjunction with ER 403, which requires that

probative value be balanced against the danger of unfair prejudice.⁶ State

v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 745, 202 P.3d 937 (2009).

In this case, the trial court ruled *in limine* that the state would not be permitted to introduce any prior convictions, or evidence of prior bad acts. RP 25-26, 27, 30, 56; CP 18-38. Despite this, the prosecutor asked Officer Bibens if he knew Mr. Christopher, eliciting the response "I've met Shawn before on some previous calls at that same location." RP 234.

⁶ ER 403 provides that relevant evidence "may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence."

This was misconduct. The officer's testimony left jurors with the impression that Mr. Christopher had previously committed acts of domestic violence against Ms. Gutierrez. The problem was exacerbated by Officer Bibens's constant use of the parties' first names.⁷ This suggested that Bibens was on a first-name basis as a result of frequent calls to the apartment.

It is unlikely that the court's instruction to disregard the remark solved the problem. Although jurors may have consciously ignored the words used by the officer, each juror's subconscious would have been infected by the idea that Mr. Christopher is a repeat offender. In light of this, they were likely to use his presumed propensity toward domestic violence as evidence of his guilt. Despite the court's effort to mitigate the prejudice, "the bell is hard to unring." *State v. Holmes*, 122 Wn. App. 438, 446, 93 P.3d 212 (2004).

Furthermore, there is a substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the verdict. *Lindsay*, --- Wn.2d at ____. The case boiled down to a credibility contest between Mr. Christopher and Gutierrez. Knowing that Officer Bibens had "met Shawn before on some previous calls at that same

⁷ Officer Bibens repeatedly referred to Ms. Gutierrez as "Christina." RP 233, 234, 243, 244, 262, 264, 265, 266. He also referred to Mr. Christopher as "Shawn." RP 234, 247, 248.

location," jurors were likely to presume his guilt and disregard his testimony. RP 234.

In light of the potential for prejudice, the trial court should have granted Mr. Christopher's mistrial motion. RP 235-238. Failing that, the court should have granted Mr. Christopher's post-trial Motion for Arrest of Judgment and New Trial. CP 76-79.

The prosecutor committed prejudicial misconduct. There is a substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the verdict. *Lindsay*, ---Wn.2d at _____. In addition, jurors used propensity evidence to convict Mr. Christopher. This violated his right to due process. *Garceau*, 275 F.3d at 776, 777-778. His convictions must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.

III. THE COURT ERRED BY ORDERING MR. CHRISTOPHER TO PAY ATTORNEY FEES.

A. Standard of Review.

Reviewing courts assess constitutional issues and questions of law *de novo. State v. Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d 153, 161, 307 P.3d 712 (2013); *State v. Jones*, 175 Wn. App. 87, 95, 303 P.3d 1084 (2013).

B. Erroneously-imposed legal financial obligations (LFOs) may be challenged for the first time on appeal.

A court's authority to impose costs derives from statute. *State v. Hathaway*, 161 Wn. App. 634, 651-653, 251 P.3d 253 (2011) *review denied*, 172 Wn.2d 1021, 268 P.3d 224 (2011).⁸ A court exceeds its authority by ordering an offender to pay legal financial obligations (LFOs) beyond what the legislature has authorized. RCW 9.94A.760.

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