A. ANSWERS TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

I. This assignment of error was waived and this Court should

not consider it. 

II. This assignment of error was waived and this Court should

not consider it. 

III. This assignment of error was waived and this Court should

not consider it. 

IV. This assignment of error was waived and this Court should

not consider it. 

V. The prosecutor did not commit misconduct that was

flagrant and ill- intentioned. 

VI. Mr. Christopher' s right to due process was not infringed by
the prosecutor. 

VII. The trial court' s ruling on a motion in limine was violated
by Officer Bibens' s testimony. 

VIII. Mr. Christopher' s convictions were not based on evidence

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

C. ARGUMENT

I. MR. CHRISTOPHER WAIVED HIS CHALLENGE TO

THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE STATUTE

UNDER WHICH HE WAS CONVICTED BY FAILING
TO CHALLENGE THE STATUTE AT THE TRIAL

LEVEL AND FAILING TO SHOW HOW HIS

CHALLENGE IS APPROPRIATE UNDER RAP

2. 5( A)(3). 

a. Manifest Error

Because at the trial court level Mr. Christopher did not challenge

the legality of the statute under which he was charged, he waived the right

to challenge the statute on this ground for the first time on appeal. The

general rule is that an issue, theory, or argument not presented at trial will

not be considered on appeal. RAP 2. 5( a); State v. Hayes, 165 Wn.App. 

507, 514, 265 P. 3d 982 (2011) ( citing State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d

322, 332 -33, 899 P.2d 1251 ( 1995)). This " rule reflects a policy of

encouraging the efficient use ofjudicial resources. The appellate courts

will not sanction a party' s failure to point out at trial an error which the

trial court, if given the opportunity, might have been able to correct to

avoid an appeal and a consequent new trial." State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d

682, 685, 757 P. 2d 492 ( 1998) ( citation omitted). 

An exception to the rule exists, however, for manifest errors

affecting a defendant' s constitutional rights. RAP 2. 5( a)( 3); Hayes, 165

Wn.App. at 514. To determine whether the exception applies, a reviewing
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court employs a two -part test. State v. Kronich, 160 Wn.2d 893, 899, 161

P. 3d 982) ( 2007) ( citing State v. Lynn, 67 Wn.App. 339, 345, 835 P. 2d

251 ( 1992) ( overruled on other grounds by State v. Jasper, 174 Wn.2d 96, 

271 P. 3d 876 ( 2012)). " First, the court determines whether the alleged

error is truly constitutional. Second, the court determines whether the

alleged error is ` manifest. "' Id. 

To be manifest, the alleged error must have had " practical and

identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." Kronich, 160 Wn.2d at

899 ( citing State v. Stein, 144 Wn.2d 236, 240, 27 P.3d 184 ( 2001)). In

other words, the defendant must show, in the context of the trial, actual

prejudice as it is this " prejudice that makes the error `manifest,' allowing

appellate review." McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 333 ( citing Scott, 110

Wn.2d at 688). Consequently, a " purely formalistic error will not be

deemed manifest," nor will an error that is not " unmistakable, evident, or

indisputable." Kronich, 160 Wn.2d at 899,; State v. Burke, 163 Wn.2d

204, 224, 181 P.3d 1 ( 2008) ( citation omitted). Because " permitting every

possible constitutional error to be raised for the first time on appeal

undermines the trial process, generates unnecessary appeals, creates

undesirable re- trials and is wasteful of the limited resources of

prosecutors, public defenders and courts," courts must not give the term
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manifest" an expansive reading. Lynn, 67 Wn.App. 343 -44; McFarland, 

127 Wn.2d at 333. 

Here, Mr. Christopher cites to RAP 2. 5( a)( 3) and State v. Kirwin

for the proposition that "[ a] manifest error affecting a constitutional right

may be raised for the first time on review. Br. of App. at 5; 165 Wn.2d

818, 823, 203 P. 3d 1044 ( 2009)'. Mr. Christopher fails, however, to

provide any argument or citation for authority that the error he alleges is

manifest. See Br. of App. Arguments must be supported by citation to

authority and if none is cited reviewing courts may " may presume that

counsel after diligent search, has found none." Oregon Mut. Ins. Co. v. 

Barton, 109 Wn.App 405, 418, 36 P. 3d 1065 ( 2001) ( internal quotation

omitted) (citing Roberts v. Atlantic Richfield Co., 88 Wn.2d 887, 895, 568

P.2d 764 ( 1977)); State v. Logan, 102 Wn.App. 907, 911 FN 1, 10 P. 3d

504 ( 2000); RAP 10. 3( a)( 6). 

According to Mr. Christopher, the Assault in the Second Degree

statute was amended to 1) create and define a new means of committing

Assault in the Second Degree; 2) make technical corrections, to include a

spelling correction and moving a misplaced conjunction; and 3) to add a

new wash -out period for repetitive domestic violence offenses.. Br. of

Worth noting is that Kirwin declares that a defendant " must identify a constitutional
error and show how, in the context of the trial, the alleged error actually affected his
rights." ( emphasis added) 
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App. at 8. Even if these changes to the statute were unlawful, Mr. 

Christopher cannot show how these changes had " practical and

identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." Kronich, 160 Wn.2d at

899. Rather, because Mr. Christopher was convicted of Assault in the

Second Degree by strangulation, 
2

not suffocation, the legal error

complained of, even if true, is a " purely formalistic error" and did not

actually prejudice Mr. Christopher at trial. Id. at 899. 

b. The Amending Statute

The constitutionality of a statute is reviewed de novo. City of

Spokane v. Neff, 152 Wn.2d 85, 88, 93 P. 3d 158 ( 2004). In addition, a

statute is " presumed constitutional, and the parties challenging it must

prove it violates the Constitution beyond a reasonable doubt." City of

Seattle v. Montana, 129 Wn.2d 583, 589 ( 1996) ( citations omitted). 

Moreover, a reviewing court " will make every presumption in favor of

constitutionality where the statute' s purpose is to promote safety and

welfare, and the statute bears a reasonable and substantial relationship to

that purpose." State v. Glas, 147 Wn.2d 410, 422, 54 P. 3d 147 ( 2002); 

State v. Lee, 135 Wn.2d 369, 390, 957 P.2d 741 ( 1998). 

2 The Jury was instructed that in order to convict Mr. Christopher of Assault in the
Second Degree it had to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Christopher " assaulted

Christina Gutierrez by strangulation." Court' s Instructions to the Jury # 7 ( CP 61). The

jury received additional instructions defining Assault in the Second Degree as assault by
strangulation and defining strangulation, but received no instructions regarding
suffocation. CP 60, 64; See Court' s Instructions to the Jury. 
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Article II, section 19 of the Washington Constitution " contains two

prohibitions: ( 1) no bill shall embrace more than one subject (single

subject rule), and ( 2) that the bill's title shall express the bill' s subject

subject -in -title rule)." State v. Stannard, 134 Wn.App. 828, 834, 142

P.3d 641 ( 2006). A violation of either rule, however, does not require the

invalidation of the entire statute. Amalgamated Transit Union Local 587

v. State, 142 Wn.2d 183, 227 -28, 11 P. 3d 762 ( 2000) ( "The next question

is whether, due to unconstitutionality under the subject -in -title clause of

art. II, § 19, [ the enactment] is unconstitutional in its entirety "); Patrice v. 

Murphy, 136 Wn.2d 845, 855, 966 P.2d 1271 ( 1998) ( citing Power, Inc. v. 

Huntley, 39 Wn.2d 191, 200, 235 P. 2d 173 ( 1951) ( " The Constitution does

provide that if only one subject is embraced in the title, then any subject

not expressed in the title that is embraced in the body of the act, may be

rejected, and the part that is expressed in the title be allowed to stand. "). 

Instead, a severability analysis takes place where " those provisions not

encompassed within the title are invalid but the remainder is constitutional

if: (1) the objectionable portions may be severed such that a court can

presume the enacting body would have enacted the valid portion without

the invalid portion; and ( 2) elimination of the invalid part would not

render the remainder of the act incapable of accomplishing the legislative
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purpose." State v. Thomas, 103 Wn.App 800, 813, 14 P. 3d 854 ( 2000) 

citing State v. Broadaway, 133 Wn.2d 118, 128, 942 P. 2d 363 ( 1997)). 

Here, the Assault in the Second Degree statute was amended in

2011 in order to include assault by suffocation under its purview. Laws, 

2011, Ch. 166 Sec. 1. The amending legislation was titled "AN ACT

Relating to crimes against persons involving suffocation or domestic

violence ... ". Laws, 2011, Ch. 166. Assuming arguendo that the

amending legislation violates the single subject rule or subject -in -title rule

by making " technical corrections" and adding " language allowing prior

convictions for a repetitive domestic violence offense to wash out of a

person' s offender score," Mr. Christopher does not argue, nor can he, that

the remaining portion of the amending legislation, i. e., the portion adding

suffocation as a means of committing Assault in the Second Degree, is not

within the bill' s title. Brief of Appellant at 7 -8. In fact, Mr. Christopher

fails to undertake any severability analysis. See Br. of App.. 

Moreover, Mr. Christopher was convicted of Assault in the Second

Degree by strangulation —not suffocation —as the jury was instructed that

in order to convict Mr. Christopher of Assault in the Second Degree it had

to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Christopher " assaulted

Christina Gutierrez by strangulation." Court' s Instructions to the Jury #7

CP 61). The jury received additional instructions defining Assault in the
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Second Degree as assault by strangulation and defining strangulation, but

received no instructions regarding suffocation. CP 60, 64; See Court' s

Instructions to the Jury. Consequently, even if Mr. Christopher did not

waive his right to challenge the Assault in the Second Degree statute, his

claim still fails because any possible offending portions of the amending

legislation are severable leaving the suffocation portions intact and

because his conviction did not involve any new portion of the amending

legislation since he was convicted of Assault in the Second Degree by

strangulation. 

II. MR. CHRISTOPHER' S TRIAL COMPORTED WITH

DUE PROCESS AS HIS OBJECTION TO DISPUTED

EVIDENCE WAS SUSTAINED AND THE PROPER

INSTRUCTIONS WERE GIVEN BY THE COURT. 

If the defendant can establish that prosecutorial misconduct

occurred, then " the defendant must show that the prosecutor' s misconduct

resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's

verdict. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 759 -60, 278 P. 3d 653 ( 2012) 

Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760. " Juries are presumed to follow jury

instructions absent evidence to contrary. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d

918, 928, 155 P. 3d 125 ( 2007) ( citing State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 

763, 675 P. 2d 1213 ( 1984)). 
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Reviewing courts apply an abuse of discretion standard when

assessing the trial court' s denial of a mistrial. State v. Rodriquez, 146

Wn.2d 260, 269, 45 P. 3d 541 ( 2002). The same standard applies to a trial

court' s decision to deny a motion for a new trial. State v. Perez- Valdez, 

172 Wn.2d 808, 818, 265 P. 3d 853 ( 2011). A trial court abuses its

discretion when " no reasonable judge would have reached the same

conclusion." Rodriquez, 146 Wn.2d at 269. Moreover, a trial court' s

denial of a motion for mistrial " will only be overturned when there is a

substantial likelihood that the error prompting" the motion for a " mistrial

affected the jury's verdict." Id. at 269 -70. 

Here, the misconduct did not have a substantial likelihood of

affecting the jury' s verdict. The State asked Ofc. Bibens " Do you know — 

did you know Shawn Christopher ?" to which the officer responded " I' ve

met Shawn before on some previous calls at the same location." RP 234. 

While this answer was improper, Mr. Christopher' s attorney immediately

objected, the trial court sustained the objection, and then instructed the

jury to " disregard the last remarks." RP 234. As the State explained, this

was an attempt to have the officer identify the man who ran from him at
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the scene. RP 236. Contemporaneous to the comment, Mr. Christopher

moved for a mistrial. RP 237.3

Nonetheless, while the jury would hear no more about prior

contacts between Mr. Christopher and the police from the State for the rest

of the trial, Mr. Christopher or his attorney brought up the subject during

his testimony multiple times. Mr. Christopher mentioned that Ms. 

Gutierrez threatened to call the cops on him before and it' s not that big of

a deal because you — it' s always her hitting me." RP 332.
4

Immediately

afterwards the following exchange took place: 

Q: Okay. The other incident had nothing to do with any

assault, right? 

A: What was that? 

Q: The other time she called had nothing to do with any

assaults, right? 

A: No. 

Q: Okay. But she had called before? And so, what did she — 

A: She said, I -- 

s Also, while Mr. Christopher now complains about Ofc. Bibens' s use of Mr. 

Christopher' s and Ms. Gutierrez' s first names as an exacerbating factor, the court ordered
the officer to "[ rider to people by their names" after he used the term " victim." RP 247. 

4 This comment was objected to by the State, and sustained by the Court which also
granted the State' s motion to strike. 
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RP 333. Moreover, in explaining what he ( Mr. Christopher) and Mr. 

Hausinger discussed while in jail, Mr. Christopher said " We talked about

talked about everything, like what we were in for, what we' ve done

before." RP 341. Additionally, when asked whether he saw Ofc. Bibens

outside the apartment Mr. Christopher said " Yes I seen -- I don' t —I— I

didn' t recognize him at the time" and after admitting he recognized the

person outside as a police officer claimed that he " realized that she

actually did call him because she' s threatened me before." RP 345. 

Finally, Mr. Christopher introduced the idea that he ran from the officer

because of a warrant for unpaid fines, which he noted " I get it sometimes

if I don' t pay." RP 347. 

Importantly, the jury was instructed by the court prior to any

arguments or the introduction of evidence that it "will disregard any

evidence, which either is not admitted or which may be stricken by me." 

RP 101. The jury was also instructed prior to closing arguments that "[ i] f

evidence was not admitted or was stricken from the record then you are

not consider it in reaching your verdict" and that if the court ruled " that

any evidence is inadmissible, or if I have asked you to disregard any

evidence, then you must not discuss that evidence during your

deliberations or consider it in reach your verdict." Courts Instructions the

Jury # 1, CP 53 -54. 
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Here, the evidence was stacked too strongly against Mr. 

Christopher to believe that the passing comment by Ofc. Bibens had a

substantial likelihood of affecting the verdict. The case was a not mere

credibility contest, rather Mr. Christopher' s flight from the scene, 

intoxication level, the photographs of Ms. Gutierrez' s injuries, and the

testimony of Mr. Hausinger combined with the introduction and content of

the phone call and test messages to Ms. Gutierrez, i.e., telling Ms. 

Gutierrez to change her story, not instructing her to tell the truth, built the

foundation for a strong case. Adding into the equation 1) that the jury was

instructed prior to trial, before closing, and immediately after the comment

to not consider evidence it had been told to disregard; and 2) Mr. 

Christopher' s and his attorney' s continued introduction of his possible

past police contact or criminal history, and the notion that the singular

comment by Ofc. Bibens affected the verdict becomes even more strained. 

Consequently, the court did not abuse its discretion when it refused to

declare a mistrial and when it refused to grant a new trial. 

III. MR. CHRISTOPHER WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO

CONTEST THE IMPOSITION OF LFOS BY NOT

OBJECTING AT THE TRIAL COURT LEVEL. 

The trial court has broad discretion to impose costs, fines, and fees. 

See State v. Curry, 1 1 S Wn.2d 911, 917, 829 P. 2d 166 ( 1992) ( stating a

trial court' s imposition of LFOs is reviewed for abuse of discretion). 
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RCW 9. 94A.760 entitled " Legal financial obligations" allows the superior

court to order a person who is convicted of a crime to pay a legal financial

obligation as part of his or her sentence. RCW 9.94A.760( 1). Pursuant to

RCW 9. 94A.030( 30), " legal financial obligation" means

a sum of money that is ordered by a superior court of the
state of Washington for legal financial obligations which

may include restitution to the victim, statutorily imposed
crime victims' compensation fees as assessed pursuant to

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